
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Policy Overview 
Committee

Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S H Brown Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor J Burrell Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P F Coleman Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor R M Currans Councillor D Page
Councillor B Garden Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor J Jones Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor R J Wells
Councillor R Lees

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 19 March 2019

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday 19 March 2019

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
term(s) of any Grant(s) of Dispensation.

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 11 December 2018 (Pages 1 - 14)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. To consider references from other Committees (IF ANY) 
None at this stage

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 15 - 18)
To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 February 2019 to 30 June 2019.

7. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 11 December 2018 (Pages 19 - 22)

SD (IS)

To note the list of action points arising from the Policy Overview 
Committee meeting held on 11 December 2018 as set out in the 
attached report.

8. Health Care Services for Dartford 
To receive presentations from Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group, Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust 
and Virgin Care Ltd.  followed by a joint Q&A session with Members.

9. Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report, Quarter 3 of 2018/19 Municipal Year (Pages 
23 - 42)
This report updates Members on the progress made with meeting the 
key actions and performance indicators for the Corporate Plan in the 
third quarter of the municipal cycle, as set out in Appendices A and B 
to the report.



10. Policy Overview Committee Rolling Work Plan (Pages 43 - 46)
This report and Appendix A sets out the Committee’s current Work 
Plan and seeks proposals for further items for consideration by the 
Committee in the ensuing 2019-20 municipal cycle and beyond. 



1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 11 
December 2018 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor B Garden
Councillor J Jones
Councillor R Lees
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey
Councillor R J Wells

ABSENT: Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor Mrs. D Page

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Trish Chapman – Dartford Borough Resident’s Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green

Kashmir Powar

– Strategic Director (External 
Services)

– Healthy Living Co-ordinator

27. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors J Burrell, Mrs 
D Page and Mrs M Kelly, and for lateness on behalf of Councillors J Jones 
and R Lee.

28. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest made, including by Councillors Jones 
and Lee on subsequently joining the proceedings. 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

2

29. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2018 

A Member noted that the Committee had yet to be advised of an 
implementation date for the Council’s New Air Quality Plan [Min. No. 24 page 
7 – Action Point refers].

The Chairman noted the oversight and asked the Committee Co-ordinator to 
confirm the details with the Council’s Scientific Officer and advise Members 
accordingly. 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 11 
September 2018 be confirmed as accurate.

30. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no items of urgency for the 
Committee to consider. 

31. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

The Chairman confirmed that there were no references from other 
Committees for Members to consider.

32. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

1. That the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 November 2018 to 31 
March 2019 be noted.

33. CHANGE TO AGENDA ITEM ORDER 

In a change to the published agenda order, Members agreed to consider 
Items 9 and 10 before 7 and 8 to enable guest speakers and presenting 
Officers time to attend further commitments that evening. 

34. KENT PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE UPDATE 

The Chairman welcomed Mr Andrew Scott-Clark, Director of Public Health 
(DPH) Kent County Council to the proceedings, and thanked him for agreeing 
to update Members regarding ongoing and planned public health initiatives by 
KCC and the linkage to Kent district councils and other partners.

The DPH welcomed the opportunity to update Dartford Members on the 
progress made by KCC in the dissemination of public health services since 
his previous briefing of the Committee in 2016. He explained that his Update 
presentation retained the key information from his 2016 document and 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

3

compared it with the current 2018 position for each service and category 
under the following principal headings:

Adult Health Improvement Transformation

Members were referred to the diagram for the existing [2016] model for 
delivery of Community Resources and Support based on specialist silo 
elements for Healthy Weight and exercise services, a Stop Smoking Service 
and Health Trainers which was being transformed into a more holistic Healthy 
Lifestyle Service, based on healthy lifestyle support and advice for Exercise, 
weight management, healthy eating, stop smoking and alcohol consumption, 
underpinned by mental wellbeing. The transformed model for the delivery of 
Community Resources and Support was being delivered via a three tiered 
approach: 

 A digital offer of self-help via ‘ONEYOUKENT’ apps by phone plus an 
online option;

 A Universal Service offer;
 A Specialist services offer

The new model had been created with Kent Community Healthcare 
Foundation Trust [KCHFT] as the lead provider, dovetailed with the District 
offer, plus a more recent agreement to enter a same partnership model with 
Maidstone Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust, for the delivery of genitourinary 
medicine (GUM) services. KCC’s eventual aim was to have an East and West 
Kent model footprint for the delivery of public health services.

KCHFT was the major provider of services with £38M spent on the provision 
of public health measures to some 1.8M residents across Kent.  As a non-
profit making organisation NHS services provided a more cost effective 
service option to Kent and other local authorities than external procurement, 
and significant economies had been achieved using NHS services. The next 
NHS 10 Year Plan had yet to be published, but was hoped that an increase in 
funding to local authority partnerships would form part of the new Plan to 
provide a more cost-effective health care infrastructure going forward, 
delivered through the KCHFT and District partnership footprint wherever 
possible. 

Health and Diet were recognised as the top two categories to be addressed to 
improve public health, with a reduction in refined and processed sugar content 
in food and drink products identified by Public Health England as the No. 1 
target to improve dietary balance, especially for children but across all age 
categories. This particular target had been ‘badged’ up by KCC Public Health 
in the ‘ONEYOUKENT’ dietary app, with Dartford linked to the Sevenoaks and 
West Kent model. 

Work undertaken by the Stop Smoking Service showed that smoking 
continued to be a significant contributor to the continuing gap between rich 
and poor individuals/communities in society in terms of health and life 
expectancy, despite smoking being the most preventable element for 
improving public health. The growth in the illicit tobacco market whose 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

4

products were not subject to control, contained more impurities and continued 
to burn for longer [when not being inhaled] than legal products, was an 
increasing concern both on health and fire safety grounds. 

KCC surveys had shown that self-help, digital apps and on-line offers of 
health care services were more effective and successful with the public than 
face to face Services. KCC would continue to push the ‘ONEYOUKENT’ apps 
which were now a recognised and proven brand for encouraging a healthy 
life-style for adults. 
  
Healthy Child Programme 0-18

The Partnership model had been transformed since 2016 and now 
encompassed all aspects of the Healthy Child programme 0-18: 

 KCHFT had won the School Nursing recruitment contract and was 
developing the role of school nurses under an expanded programme of 
duties;

 Performance management of the 0-5 programme had been a 
significant success and driven up productivity in the delivery of the 5 
statutory assessments by the health visiting team(s), a role previously 
undertaken by the NHS until 2016;

 Rationalisation of breast feeding support had been achieved by KCHFT 
who had gained UNICEF Baby Friendly accreditation Stage 2 status;

 Work with Vulnerable Families had been tied in to work with Early Help 
and Children’s Social Care, including support for mother’s under 19 
having their 1st child, with the aim of extending such support to even 
younger mothers across Kent;

 Focus had also been maintained on combating the ‘Toxic Trio’ of 
domestic abuse (DA), mental ill-health and substance mis-use;

 Increased support was being given to secondary school children with 
emotional or mental health and wellbeing issues, including via an 
expanded role for School Nurses.  

Sustainability and Transformation Plans

The new Secretary of State for Health was being more positive in pushing the 
principal aim of ‘Prevention’ under his recent key ‘Prevention is Better than 
Cure’ document. Two further key publications were awaited;

 NHS Ten Year Plan
 Government’s Green Paper on Prevention

Prevention was the key theme for local authorities in England in the face of 
continued Government cuts to health funding, with Kent expected to find a 
further £1.8M in cuts in 2019/20. A proposal to fund local authority health care 
from retained business rates had been mooted by Government but detailed 
proposals had yet to emerge. 

A principal concern for Kent and all local authorities was the increase in 
mandatory services that they had to provide under the Health Act, as opposed 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

5

to discretionary services currently being provided or sought by residents. 
Since 2016 Government funding for health care in Kent had fallen from £78M 
to £63M against a backdrop of increased demand, demographic pressures 
and price rises for drugs and medicines. These principal themes underlined 
the need for a proactive ‘Preventative’ approach to health care, with particular 
emphasis on the key areas of cancer and cardiovascular disease, tackled 
through proactive measures to reduce smoking, reform diets and increase 
physical activity across the community.

Health Improvement in Partnership

Public Health Kent worked strategically using three ‘footprints’ for East, West 
and North Kent, in which District authorities had a key role to play in 
promoting and improving public health at the local level via their policies for:

 Planning
 Environment
 Leisure Services
 Licensing (alcohol)
 Community Safety
 Housing
 ‘Community’
 Health in all policies
 Gambling

The District contribution to public health was both an opportunity and a time of 
challenge, with health inequalities both at the local and national level recorded 
as not reducing by Public Health England. The focus of the system was 
therefore a disproportionate response with local populations where life 
expectancy was significantly below that expected using the following 
partnership processes:

 Kent Health and Wellbeing Board
 Elements of STP (Sustainable Transformation Partnership) including a 

new partnership between PH Kent, Medway and the NHS;
 Key STP clinical strategy at preventions of scale for e.g. heart attacks 

and hyperacute strokes

The DPH advised Members that partnership working, through drawing on 
Government funding, NHS monies, expertise and services, co-ordinated at a 
county level through the formation of health trusts working with district and 
borough authorities; was the key to tackling the increased levels of cancer, 
cardiovascular disease, poor diet, lack of exercise, and increased levels of 
smoking and alcohol consumption; to improve health across communities at 
the local level. Two growing areas of ill-health which would require greater 
resources in 2019, were the increased prevalence of gambling amongst low 
income families in deprived communities and amongst the most vulnerable in 
society, and the link to increased levels of suicide, in particular amongst 
middle-aged men. 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

6

Most challenged communities in Kent 

Members were shown a map of Kent where the most deprived communities, 
some 88 in total, were highlighted in red. This included some small pockets of 
concern in Dartford.

Communications 

Members were advised that continuing to join up the [Public Health] system to 
effectively communicate messages to the public was essential using the 
following tools;

 Being tied-in to Public Health England communications and message 
streaming;

 Continued use of the successful ‘ONEYOUKENT apps, Twitter, 
Facebook and Instagram to help release the pressure on individuals 
previously ‘suffering in silence’ across a whole range of health and 
related issues such as divorce, money problems, stress and 
bereavement;

 Male suicide in Kent had been reduced by 10% but still remained 
above the national average which had helped to attract increased 
funding of £1.5M to address this major issue;

 Increased links were proposed with Mental Health Trusts to address 
the self-harming amongst adolescents prone to peer and other 
pressures, whilst concentrating clinicians time on helping the most ill; 

 Increased resources to address Sexual Health issues via GUM 
concentrating clinicians time on the test positive patients rather than 
testing individuals who sought re-assurance at clinics;

 Increasing resources to promote ‘Sugar Swapping’ to improve diets 
allied to increased physical activity;

 Warning and informing residents and supporting the NHS in times of 
extreme weather events e.g. Heat Wave Warnings and on the Winter 
and cold weather which also threatens health, particularly the young 
and the elderly.

The Chairman thanked the KCC Director for Public Health (DPH) for his 
comprehensive update, and noted the efficiencies and positive savings 
achieved by KCC Public Health since 2016. He noted that the existing KCC 
partnership funding provision to Kent Districts would be maintained until 
March 2019 and sought assurances that KCC would continue to fund public 
health provision in Kent Districts in the 2019/20 financial cycle and thereafter.

The DPH informed Members that funding cuts of £1.8M had to be identified by 
KCC in 2019/20 from the current levels of funding for public health in Kent.  
KCC would try to minimise cuts to front-line services as far as possible, as it 
tried to balance meeting its statutory obligations [under the Health & Social 
Care Act], maintaining non-statutory services currently provided, and meeting 
increased demand in certain areas e.g. sexual health provision. 

On current estimates, public health funding for 2020/21 would be ‘standstill’ 
[i.e. no increases/no further cuts] and KCC hoped to continue its current 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

7

partnership working with Kent Districts in that fiscal cycle. Thereafter, for 
2021/22 and beyond, he was unable to forecast what the public health funding 
provision might be. It was mooted that future public health funding could be 
met at the local level from retained business rates, but no Government 
formula had been produced to date to meet the needs of the many public 
health cohorts which could seek funding from such a scheme. 

Pending publication of the Government’s ‘Prevention’ Green Paper on the 
future funding model for public health care, it was proposed to continue with a 
ring-fenced model for grant funding of public health initiatives at the local level 
in 2020/21. The Sustainable Transformation Partnership/Plan (STP) 
recognised the value and necessity of a continued County/District relationship 
for public health funding and provision, and it was hoped that increased 
funding would be made available to local authorities by the NHS within its next 
10 Year Plan.
 
In response to a wide-ranging series of subsequent questions from individual 
Members, the Director for Public Health Kent made the following points:

 KCC PH continued to work with the KCC Library Team to ensure as far 
as possible, in the continuing climate of austerity, that KCC PH met its 
statutory health provisions in terms of providing IT access to residents 
in deprived communities [who did not have IT at home] to access 
preventative health advice on-line. The public’s use of libraries was 
changing, but KCC would continue to monitor that use and obtain 
feedback through appropriate consultation;

 In response to a Member’s concern that funding for preventative health 
measures in Kent had reduced in the period 2014/15 to 2019/20 and 
that the new NHS 10 Year Plan had yet to be published, the DPH 
acknowledged that previous funding cuts had had consequences and 
were a real issue for PH Kent. Since 2016 productivity and efficiencies 
had been driven forward and attached notable results in terms of a 48 
hour target for sexual health care despite a £5M cut in that specific 
budget for Kent. The UK as a whole had also met the WHO HIV target 
in the period under review. However, choices over the provision of 
some statutory services had also had to be made e.g. residential re-
hab for drug/substance mis-use now tended to be provided on a day-
care basis. There was an acknowledged need for increased funding to 
be devoted to preventative health measures nationally and for the 
delegation of some of those monies to local authorities e.g. NHS 
England Diabetes programme monies to local authorities who could 
provide more effective care through local partnership arrangements. 
However that was a Government funding policy initiative to be decided 
by the Secretary of State, hopefully in the awaited Green Paper;

 A Member noted that the Terrance Higgins Trust had targeted a zero 
rate for the transmission of sexual diseases by 2019. As a member of 
the Lesbian, Gay, Bi-sexual and Transgender (LGBT) community he 
had taken part in PrEP trials and found that the sexual health services 
available in London were better for the LGBT community, especially in 
terms of the linguistics used, than in Kent. He noted that whilst there 
had been a slight overall decrease in the overall transmission of sexual 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

8

diseases in Kent, incidences of gonorrhoea and chlamydia 
transmission had increased. He saw a need for KCC PH to encourage 
patients to use Kent resources to increase the funding pot in the 
County, to supplement good but limited on-line PrEP testing, and a 
13% increase in demand for PrEP testing across all age groups. The 
DPH undertook to feed-back the Members specific concerns over PrEP 
testing for the LGBT community in Kent; 

 A Member noted that 10% of NHS England’s budget was now devoted 
to treating diabetes, and asked how the Council could lobby for 
increased funding for Dartford residents. The DPH advised that as a 
first step, the Chairman of Dartford POC could write to the Chairman of 
KCC’s Health and Overview Scrutiny Committee (HOSC). Kent, Surrey 
and Sussex colleagues in the PH field were collaborating in a joint 
effort to address diabetes funding issues, but he was aware that new 
requests for funding faced a 12 month consideration process. 
Alternatively, the POC might write to Healthwatch or NHS England 
regarding the Diabetes Prevention Programme. He advised that at the 
clinical level, evidence around diet was more pronounced for Type II 
diabetes with fructose levels in diet a major contributing factor. 
Reductions in sugar, white bread, white rice and potatoes were all 
required to effect a balanced diet for Type II diabetes sufferers allied to 
increased physical activity, but the adage that ‘you can’t outrun a poor 
diet’ was the principal preventative measure to be pursued;

 In response to a final expression of concern about the sugar content in 
processed foods and the lack of a detailed sugar breakdown on the 
packaging of such food-stuffs, the DPH advised that industry was only 
subject to a voluntary code of practice in revealing sugar levels in its 
products. Sugar was ubiquitous to all food products, and that central 
government action to introduce a sugar tax on such high sugar-content 
products and fizzy drinks was a good start, but that the sugar industry 
was a ‘big beast’ to tackle and one well-versed in the necessary 
lobbying  skills to protect its products and the industry as a whole.

The Chairman thanked the KCC Director for Public Health for agreeing to 
attend and update Members and invited him to return in December 2019 to 
update Members further on the contents and implications of the Government’s 
Green Paper on Prevention in public health, and the details of the new NHS 
England 10 Year Plan.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the details contained in the KCC Director for Public 
Health’s Update presentation;

2. That the Chairman of POC write to the Chairman of KCC’s Health and 
Overview Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) concerning increased funding to 
combat diabetes in the Dartford community.  

 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

9

35. DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL REPORT 
2017/18 

The covering report from the Head of Housing & Health, Sevenoaks District 
Council, enclosed as Appendix A the Dartford Health Inequalities Action Plan 
Progress Report 2017/18, which updated Members on the progress made 
against the priorities identified in the Health Inequalities Action Plan for the 
2017/18 financial year. An Evidence and Case Studies document was 
attached at Appendix B to the covering report.

The Committee had agreed and adopted a new three year Dartford Health 
Inequalities Action Plan (DHIAP) 2015-2018 in December 2015 with local 
priorities developed by the Dartford Health Inequalities Group partners, to 
deliver targeted action to meet local needs, in support of the Kent Health 
Inequalities Strategy, and the emerging Kent and Medway Sustainable 
Transformation Partnership/Plan (STP). 

The DHIAP set out six overarching objectives to reduce health inequalities 
across the Borough. The local priorities identified under each objective were 
to:

 Promote Healthy Weight for Children;
 Support older people to keep safe, independent and living fulfilled lives;
 Support businesses to have healthy workplaces;
 Reduce the gap in health inequalities across the social gradients.

The preventative health projects delivered by the Council, as detailed in the 
Progress Report 2017/18 (Appendix A to the report) formed part of the HIAP. 
The projects undertaken in Dartford under the supervision of the Council’s 
Healthy Living Co-ordinator, included healthy weight programmes and the 
promotion of mental wellbeing, and were monitored on a quarterly basis via 
outcome monitoring submissions to Kent County Council.

In response to specific questions from Members regarding Appendix A to the 
report, Officers confirmed the following points:

 ‘Targets’ would be added to the 2018/19 Progress Report for each 
Objective to better gauge outcomes achieved, e.g.  75 families had 
been engaged on the ‘Don’t Sit, Get Fit (DSGF) Family Weight 
Management Programme [Appendix A agenda p. 21 refers] against a 
target of 50 families;

 A possible area for increased activities if more KCC Public Health 
funding was available, would be to engage more Dartford G.P.s to refer 
children and adults to the DSGF Family Weight Management 
Programme. The Family Weight Management Programmes are now 
delivered as part of the KCC School Nursing Contract, and this Council 
is working closely with them to deliver this work through a pilot scheme 
with KCC funding;

 Academy Schools were not funded separately but also came under the 
School Nurse Contract. A targeted programme for individual families 
was not possible;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

10

 The current 2015-2018 DHIAP had come to an end [report para 3.8 
agenda p.18] but KCC had undertaken to finance existing Plan 
activities until the end of the current 2018/19 financial year. A new Plan 
for Dartford was being formulated in line with STP and Dartford Health 
Inequalities Group objectives, with input from Councillor Ann Allen 
MBE, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Development and the 
Healthy Living Co-ordinator. The new Plan will identify priorities and 
positive outcomes for the Borough going forward, through continued 
partnership working;

 It was proposed that the Healthy Living Co-ordinator would again 
operate a stand at the Dartford Festival in 2019 to engage the public in 
health check-ups, healthy living activities and tips, building on the 
excellent positive public response from previous years;

 Further details of the activities of the Elders Forum including dates for 
future meetings and activities would be circulated to Members for their 
information [Appendix A agenda p. 23/24 refers].

The Chairman thanked the Head of Housing & Health, SDC and Dartford 
Council’s Healthy Living Co-ordinator for their presentation of the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects Annual Report and Appendices 2017/18, and for 
responding to Members’ questions.     

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the outcomes and progress made on the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects for the 2017/18 financial year, as set out 
in detail in Appendix A and B to the report. 

36. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2018 

Members had earlier agreed [Min. No. 33 refers] to consider this standard 
report from the Committee Co-ordinator later in the published agenda 
proceedings,  to allow guest speakers and presenting Officers to depart 
following their presentations, to meet further commitments that evening.

The Chairman and Members agreed the following action with regard to the 
Action Points from the Committee’s meeting held on 11 September 2018 as 
recorded in the report:

Item 1 Health Funding: Members noted the action taken as recorded in the 
report.

Item 2 Charging for GP Referral Letters: It was noted that G.P. Surgeries 
effectively ran as their own businesses, under the overall auspices of their 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). Charging for referral letters was 
therefore a business decision taken by each Surgery which the Council could 
not influence directly. Members agreed to draw a line under the matter on that 
basis, but also agreed that the Chairman, with advice from Officers, write to 
the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG, to record the Committee’s 
concern that Summerhouse and Orchard Surgeries in Dartford continued to 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

11

charge for referral letters: a practice which disadvantaged the most vulnerable 
in the community who could least afford such a cost. 

Item 3 RELATE Medway & North Kent: The Chairman expressed his severe 
frustration that Dan McDonald, the Chief Executive of RELATE Medway & 
North Kent (including Dartford) had yet again failed to attend the Committee 
proceedings despite several renewed invitations [Agenda Item 8 refers].

The Chairman advised Members that in his appointed position as the 
Council’s representative to RELATE for the past three plus years, he had 
never been invited to attend any of their meetings: a continued omission 
which had prompted his initial (and repeated) invitations for Dan McDonald to 
attend POC proceedings and appraise Members of the services RELATE 
offered to Dartford residents. He appreciated that the Committee could not 
insist that a representative from RELATE appear before the Committee, but 
he believed that there was a moral obligation for the outside body to do so, 
that their continued lack of any response to the Committee’s invitations was 
disrespectful in the extreme, and that the Committee should make their 
disquiet known to RELATE. 

Members agreed that the Chairman, with the advice of Officers, would write to 
Dan McDonald at RELATE Medway & North Kent expressing their 
disappointment over his continued non-attendance or even a response, and 
that the Chairman’s letter be copied to RELATE’s funding body [Officers to 
obtain details].

Item 4 Local Community Pharmacy Services: Members noted the written 
response from the DGS CCG circulated to Members on 11 September 2018.

Item 5 Welfare Reform Update: Members noted the proposal for a 
presentation by Officers in June 2019.

Item 6 Presentation by Virgin Care: The Strategic Director (External 
Services) advised Members that she had spoken to Virgin Care 
representatives who had agreed that they would make a presentation to the 
Committee in March 2019. The Committee Co-ordinator would confirm the 
exact arrangements with Virgin Care in January 2019.

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of Action Points identified by Members at their meeting on 
11 September 2018 as set out in the report, and the further action 
agreed by Members on 11 December 2018 [Items 2 and 3 as minuted 
above] be noted.

37. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT, QUARTER 2 OF 2018/19 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

The Chairman noted that the standard report recording progress on the latest 
set of Corporate Plan Key Actions and Performance Indicators for Quarter 2 
of 2018/19 (attached as Appendix A and B to the report) had been noted by 
Cabinet Advisory Panel B on 3 December 2018.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

12

The following points were confirmed/noted for action, in response to specific 
questions from Members:

 The reference to the number of households taking part in the green 
(garden waste) service referred to the brown bin service. This would be  
clarified in future Quarterly reports [Appendix B agenda p.59 refers];

 The Committee Co-ordinator undertook to check the value figure of 183 
for businesses supporting Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) with 
the DTAC Intelligence Manager [Appendix B agenda p.57refers];

 Crime figures by Ward in Dartford were available from the Kent Police 
website by typing in the relevant post code or using the KP app 
[Appendix B second PI listed on agenda p. 58 refers];

 Members noted that the explanations provided by Officers in Appendix 
B in support of the status of individual PIs, especially those with a red 
‘alert’ status, continued to be useful and comprehensive. It was noted 
that the ‘traffic light’ status system for PIs had been initiated by the 
Committee.  

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the report and the detail set out in 
Appendices A and B respectively.

38. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

The report from the Committee Co-ordinator set out the Committee’s existing 
Rolling Work Plan on a quarterly basis until September 2019 as detailed in the 
attached Appendix A. The report also listed (para 4.5) details of additional 
work areas agreed for consideration by the Committee, but yet to scheduled.

The Chairman asked that a further update presentation from the Director for 
Public Health KCC be added to the Work Plan for consideration by Members 
in December 2019 and that an invitation issue on his behalf to Healthwatch to 
attend the Committee’s meeting in March 2019 in an observer capacity, given 
the scheduled presentations by the Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust, the 
DGS CCG and Virgin Care.

He also noted, in the context of the forthcoming Borough elections in May 
2019; that the incoming Committee would have capacity in the current Work 
Plan to add further agenda items for consideration in June and September 
2019 if/as desired.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the published Rolling Work Plan 
attached as Appendix A to the report;



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 11 DECEMBER 2018

13

2. That Healthwatch be invited to the March 2019 meeting of the 
Committee in an observer capacity for the presentations due to be 
delivered by the D&G NHS Trust, the DGS CCG and Virgin Care 
respectively;

3. That the Director for Public Health, KCC be invited to update Members 
again in December 2019.  

Councillor Jones expressed his thanks to the Chairman on behalf of the 
Labour Group for his conduct of proceedings that evening and throughout the 
year and wished all Members an enjoyable festive season. He also offered his 
commiserations to the citizens of Strasbourg, France following the suspected 
terrorist shooting incident at the Strasbourg Christmas Market earlier in the 
evening.

The Chairman echoed the thoughts, concerns and best wishes of the Labour 
Group for the citizens of Strasbourg, and thanked all Committee Members for 
their contributions to the effective working of the Committee throughout 2018.

He also thanked Trish Chapman for representing Dartford’s Residents Forum 
throughout 2018, and the Strategic Director (External Services), the 
Committee Co-ordinator (and his predecessor) and all participating Council 
Officers for their reports and presentations throughout the year and wished all 
present the very best for the ensuing festive season.  

The meeting closed at 8.50 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN





15 February 2019 - 30 June 2019

1 of 4

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 4

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
2019/20

To set the levels of expenditure for 
Dartford Borough Council capital and 
revenue budgets for 2019/20, to 
approve the level of rents chargeable 
for Housing Revenue Account 
dwellings for 2019/20, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas for 2019/20, to 
approve the Pay Policy Statement 
for 2019/20 and to determine sundry 
related matters. 

Cabinet – 
recommendation 
under delegated 
authority to be 
reported to the 
General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget)
25 Feb 2019

Budget consultation with 
residents and 
businesses – December 
to January – mainly via 
website.

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343148
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Housing Repairs and Maintenance 
Measured Term Contract

To seek approval to commence the 
tender of the Housing Repairs and 
Maintenance Measured Term 
Contract. The current contract ends 
on 31 March 2020.

Cabinet
7 Mar 2019

Peter Dosad, Head of Housing
Tel: 01322 343327
peter.dosad@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



3 of 4

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
7 Mar 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
7 Mar 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Contract for the Inspection and 
Maintenance of Playgrounds

To award the contract for the 
inspection and maintenance of 
Playgrounds from 1 April 2019.   

Cabinet
7 Mar 2019
-Decision under 
Standing Order 38

Dave Thomas, Waste & Parks 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343273
dave.thomas@dartford.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to 
information which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended).



4 of 4

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

.

Cabinet
11 Apr 2019

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
19 MARCH 2019

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 11 DECEMBER 2018

1. Summary

1.1  To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 
11 December 2018 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the 
next meeting for more detailed discussion.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 11 
December 2018, together with details of previous outstanding actions be noted;

2.2    That Members consider whether any item requires a report to be submitted to 
the next or subsequent meeting of the Committee for more detailed discussion.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. List of Action Points

No. Item Responsible Officer
1 Health Funding: At their meeting on 11 September 

2018 POC Members agreed the recommendation 
from the Strategic Director (External Services) based 
on her discussions with Mike Gilbert (DGS CCG) that; 
rather than write a further letter to the Health Minister 
[Min. No. 21:1 refers]; the case for increased funding 
for the DGS CCG and D&G NHS Trust, would be 
assessed logically, through the Council’s review 
process of the current Local Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan (LIDP). 

Sheri Green/Teresa 
Ryszkowska 

2 RELATE Medway & North Kent: Mr. Dan McDonald, 
Chair of Relate Medway & North Kent (M&NK) had 
responded positively to the Chairman’s further letter of 
invitation and agreed to address the POC at its 
scheduled meeting on 18 June 2019 [Min. No. 36.3 
refers]. The Committee’s Work Plan has been 
amended accordingly.

David Hook

3 Kent Public Health Service Update: As resolved by 
Members on 11 December 2018 [Min. No. 34 refers] a 
letter was sent on behalf of the Chairman to the 
Chairman of KCC’s Health and Overview Scrutiny 
Committee (HOSC), requesting that consideration be 
given to increased funding to combat the increase in 
Type 2 diabetes amongst Dartford residents. A 
response is awaited.

David Hook

4 Dartford Preventative Health Projects Annual 
Report 2017/18: KCC funding has been confirmed for 
a new Health Inequalities Action Plan. The Plan will be 

Kashmir 
Powar/Haley Brooks



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
19 MARCH 2019

developed in conjunction with the Dartford Health 
Inequalities Group and presented to the Committee at 
the next annual update [Min. No. 35].

5 Welfare Reform Update: The SD (IS) and the Benefit 
Manager have recommended a further deferment of 
this item until June 2019 to enable Officers to better 
assess the impact of the roll-out of full Universal 
Credit across the Borough over a sustained period. 
The Committee’s Work Plan has been amended 
accordingly. 

Sarah 
Martin/Heather 
Gaynor

6 Corporate Plan- Key questions and Performance 
Indicators Monitoring Report, Quarter 2 of 2018/19 
Municipal Year [Min. No. 37 refers]: The error in the 
D-TAC statistics has been addressed by the relevant 
Officers for future reports [Min. No. 37 p.12 refers].

Sarah Williamson

7 Update from Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group: On 20 March 2018 
Members resolved to invite a representative from the 
DGS CCG to update Members in March 2019. Gail 
Arnold Deputy Managing Director and Sue Brasher, 
Director of System Transformation from the DGS CCG 
will update Members on 19 March followed by a Q&A 
session.

David Hook

8 Update from Dartford & Gravesham NHS Trust: At 
their meeting on 20 March 2018 Members resolved to 
invite a Trust representative to update the Committee 
in March 2019 on progress made. Dr Steve Fenlon, 
the Trust’s Medical Director will update Members on 
19 March followed a Q&A session with Members [Min. 
No. 43 refers].

David Hook

9 Presentation by Virgin Care Ltd: In response to the 
Chairman’s letter of invitation, Ash Capel Q&E Lead 
and Lee Busher, Head of CSS (North Kent) Virgin 
Care Ltd. will make a PowerPoint presentation to 
Members on 19 March followed by a Q&A session 
with Members.

David Hook

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrate improvements.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
19 MARCH 2019

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

11 December 2018 
Agenda, Minutes and 
reports.

David Hook
(01322) 343330

Democratic  
Services - 
Strategic Director 
(Internal)

N/A





CABINET
7 MARCH 2019

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
19 MARCH 2019

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 3 of 2018/19.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 
the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the third quarter of 
2018/19.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report.



CABINET
7 MARCH 2019

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
19 MARCH 2019

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate 
Support

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q3 2018/19
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q3 Update

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Demolition of the Bellway-owned site commenced, with start of construction to follow.

Planning application received for housing at Vauxhall Farm (southern end of Lowfield 
St).

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site Ongoing discussions are taking place with the developer. The planning application is 
expected Spring 2019.

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

Detailed design work for Market St has been completed and formal procurement of 
the works is scheduled for February 2019. Work on site is to commence at the end of 
May. High St improvements have been added to this phase and are programmed to 
be undertaken in summer/autumn 2019.   Commencement of design of the Phase 2 
works is to commence in February 2019 and works are to commence February 2020. 
This is to cover junctions at Lowfield St/Instone Rd, Instone Rd/Highfield Rd, Highfield 
Rd/West Hill and Home Gardens East Hill. Phase 3 of the project comprises 
improvements to Hythe St and the Hythe St/Westgate Rd/Home Gardens Junction. 
Design of the scheme is programmed to commence in July 2019.

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

Detailed design work for Market St has been completed and formal procurement of 
the works is scheduled for February 2019. Work on site is to commence at the end of 
May.

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

675 homes delivered in Dartford part of EDC to April 2018.  A further 1,262 homes 
have Reserved Matter consents in place, 652 at Eastern Quarry, 507 at Ebbsfleet 
Green and 103 at Craylands Lane.

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments

Eastern route out of Ingress Park now operational, providing full access to the service 
through the development. Fastrack spine across Eastern Quarry and tunnel link 
through to Bluewater projected opening September 2021.

London Rd/St Clements Way new dedicated Fastrack lane - works ongoing due to be 
completed Spring 2019.



2

A Fastrack Advisory Board has been set up with a view to supporting the ongoing 
improvement and delivery of the Fastrack service.

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Work on the site has begun. The Market Street toilets have been closed and a new 
entrance is being created through the wall behind it. Work on demolitions is 
beginning, along with the strip out of the ballroom and dance studio. Surveys of the 
river have been completed and the final designs for the river are being completed.

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford

We are revising the website for the Dartford Business Awards and are looking at 
using social media to raise the profile of the event. We will continue to work with Kent 
Growth Hub who are also promoting business opportunities in Dartford.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition We are currently planning the 3rd Dartford Business Awards.

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

We continue to work with Planning to support the implementation of the town centre 
regeneration works. Through Town Centre Management we are delivering a wide 
range of projects, events and the Thursday and Saturday markets. The next Town 
Centre event is St Georges Day which takes place on Tuesday 23rd April.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q3 Update

Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

The steel frame of the club building has been erected and completed and work is 
continuing to lay the concrete floors and to connect the building to services.

The base of the artificial pitch has been laid, this will be completed after the building 
works are finished. Lighting columns have been erected.

The car park has been laid out and work is continuing to finalise a lease agreement 
with Dartford Valley Rugby Club.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 3, 23 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 208. 
Attendees were 79.

There are currently 7 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 3, 83 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 733. Attendees were 311. There were 



3

13 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough. In quarter 3, 31 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 363. 
Attendees were 132.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 28+. In quarter 3, 33 people engaged on the programme. 4 
people completed the course and 2 of these achieved a weight loss of >5%.

Don’t Sit Get Fit is a family weight management programme that consists of providing 
support to targeted schools. A new pilot programme will work in partnership with 
KCHFT and the Public Health School nursing team and will start in quarter 4.

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. In quarter 3, 4 
organisations worked on this programme.

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

In quarter 3, there were 2 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme, 
totalling £3,006. Dartford Borough Council Community Grant Panel was convened, 
available funding £22,120 with 41 applications totalling £92,399. A total of 23 were 
awarded funding, but only 17 applicants chose to take up the grant offer.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer

The strong working relationship continues, with investment from PfP for new flooring 
in the gym. The studio has had an upgrade to enable a Virtual class instruction, 
making studio classes available outside of the normal times and thus providing an 
alternative to the oversubscribed instructor led class time table.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

The Sir Peter Blake Gallery continues to host a range of exhibitions. Work is also 
underway, with Gravesham and the EDC, to bid to the Arts Council for a major project 
in the area.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year Work is being undertaken to develop the events programme for 2019.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments

Ongoing provision of new green spaces as part of build out of major sites, including 
Eastern Quarry, Ebbsfleet Green, The Bridge, St Clements Lakes, Northern Gateway 



4

East and Mill Pond.  Laying out of open space as childrens play area at top end of 
Phoenix Quarter (Temple Hill Road) has been agreed with developer and work is now 
to commence.  Stone Lodge to provide improved and more useable green space.

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

Unfortunately, the CCG’s bid for funding from NHS England was unsuccessful. 
Discussions are now taking place to determine alternative funding options.

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q3 Update
Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect. In the year 2017/18, 379 Community Protection Warning letters were issued 
and 46 Community Protection Notices were issued.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards reducing ASB. Community Protection Warning letters are still 
being used to ban trouble makers and shoplifters from the town centre.

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety

All food hygiene inspections are carried out according to national guidelines. This 
year all high risk food safety inspections have been carried out. The lower risk 
inspections have increased throughout the year resulting in delays in some premises 
getting their routine visits. In accordance with national guidance we do not carry out 
routine health and safety inspections, however, we respond to intelligence if it is sent 
to us and act accordingly.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The excellent relationship with DBC licensing officers and Kent Police continues to 
flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint advice and 
enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been very 
innovative and ground breaking training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi 
and private hire drivers which has stimulated interest from other councils across the 
country.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

DBC licensing have set a new trend in introducing a series of workshops in 
partnership with Kent Fire and Rescue and Kent Police. This involves bespoke 
training in safeguarding, counter terrorism, relevant legislation and road safety 



5

measures. The scheme is ground breaking and proving very successful and is set to 
continue.

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce ASB 
particularly excess drinking in public places. We are now hoping to pilot a scheme to 
tackle low level youth shoplifters based upon restorative justice practices.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q3 Update
Procure a new waste collection contract Contract has been awarded to Urbaser Ltd.

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security to act as our enforcement 
capability for litter and dog fouling in January 2016. Since then and up until the end of 
December 2018 9,403 fixed penalty notices (FPN) have been issued to offenders in 
the borough.

DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of 
very few LA’s within Kent to have introduced this. Up until December 17, there have 
been 38 FPN’s for minor fly tips served by DBC Enforcement Officers (not Kingdom) 
and in the last calendar year of 2018, 50 FPN's have been issued and paid.

In terms of Fly Tip investigations DBC have an impressive 60% of offences which are 
resolved by way of either court action, fixed penalty fines or advice and subsequent 
removal.

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented

A number of volunteer groups are now having their activities facilitated by the 
provision of equipment and other help.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of East of Gravesend option (Option C) has been selected. Public consultation on the 



6

Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity details of the scheme taking place 10 October to 20 December 2018.  Detailed design 
now being undertaken. Development Consent Order to be submitted Autumn 2019.  
Expected completion date 2027.

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Completed.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national 
requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

Air Quality continues to be monitored in accordance with national requirements. As 
consultees in the planning process we attempt to influence construction to minimise 
the impact on Air Quality.

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q3 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the Borough for 2017/18. Council 
new build programme progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 2 of the 
Council new build programme close to being finalised for approval.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 Delivery target achieved.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

First primary school opened on Eastern Quarry.

Planning application for primary school on Northern Gateway (Central Rd) submitted 
December 18, with opening of temporary school in Sept 2019. 

Stone Lodge outline application incorporating secondary school submitted, with 
temporary school opening in 2019.

Plans are being progressed for health hub on former Co-op site as part of Muse 
development of the site. 

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

In quarter 3, there were 2 grants awarded under the Salute to Youth Scheme, 
totalling £3,006. Dartford Borough Council Community Grant Panel was convened, 
available funding £22,120 with 41 applications totalling £92,399. A total of 23 were 



7

awarded funding, but only 17 applicants chose to take up the grant offer.
Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light Work is underway on Dartford Festival 2019.

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

Funding arrangements through HLF have changed and this will have a knock on 
effect on proposals for the future refurbishment of the Museum.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote

The Register of Electors is continuing to increase in size following the Annual 
Canvass. The Register will be republished on the 8 February 2019 to take into 
account new Wards and Polling Districts in preparation for the Local Elections 
scheduled for May 2019

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q3 Update
Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

The Channel Shift programme continues to make progress. Online taxi licensing has 
been implemented, with further projects running to implement online alcohol licensing 
and houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) licensing. 

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council

Agile working has been extended to critical service areas and eligibility for agile 
working continues to be assessed for other posts.  

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget Budget proposals in draft, soon to be ready for approval by Members.

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs 2017/18 Programme delivered on time and within budget.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

100% Retention now expected to change to 75% scheme. Pilot year to come to an 
end in March. Kent arrangements to be restored to pool status next year after 
unsuccessful pilot submission.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

The Reorganisation Order has now been made and published. The changes to parish 
electoral arrangements will take effect from the May 2019 elections.

 





1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q3 2018/19
Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy income £2,061,024 £794,057 £704,513 £181,170 £315,750    £1,201,433  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been 
applied to eligible development since April 2014. 
During quarter 3 of 2018/19 two payments have been 
made. One payment represents a final instalment 
from development at Bluewater. Payments can rise 
or fall from quarter to quarter, as CIL is only triggered 
upon commencement of consented development. 
15% of the revenue generated from CIL liable 
developments in a local area, will be passed to 
town/parish councils and applied to projects in local 
neighbourhoods, and a further proportion of the total 
CIL revenue will be used for administrative costs. In 
December 2018 Cabinet resolved that no CIL 
allocations would be made during the financial year 
2019/20 due to identified potential infrastructure 
project plans not being sufficiently advanced or other 
funding streams being identified. However, it agreed 
that in principle, CIL monies may be applied to 2 
health infrastructure projects which are currently 
being progressed by partners.



2

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Overall business birth rate 740 660 Not measured for Quarters N/A

The Business Demography data set refers to new 
business registrations as business births. Latest 
available figures show that there were 660 business 
births in 2017 which is down 10.81% from the 
previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
business birth rate in 2017 was 7,895. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update for 2018 is due 
at the end of November 2019.

Overall business death rate 495 640 Not measured for Quarters N/A

The Business Demography data set refers to 
businesses that have ceased to trade (identified 
through de-registration of the administrative units, 
that is, VAT and PAYE) as business deaths. Latest 
available figures show that there were 640 business 
deaths in 2017, which is up 29.29% from the 
previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
business death rate in 2017 was 7,620. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due at the 
end of November 2019.

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.3% 1.1% 1.1% 1.4% 1.4%

There were 930 unemployed people in the Borough 
in December 2018, which represents an 
unemployment rate of 1.4%. This has increased 
since the previous month (70 more unemployed 
people in December than in November). In Kent 
overall (KCC area), the unemployment rate in 
December 2018 was 2.2%.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for Quarters N/A Housing delivery continues to be strong.



3

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: Total 
Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 504,916 132,174 133,431 117,011 382,616

In quarter 3, Fairfield received 117,011 visits 
compared to 133,431 visits in quarter 2.

Compared to the same period in 2017/18 this is up 
6,185 visits, with an increase of 1,516 in Dryside 
activities, 1,044 related to swimming activities, and 
3,625 in fitness activities.

Increased visits have been driven mainly by 
enrolments in swimming lessons and gymnastics in 
the respective wet and dry areas, as well as the 
continued growth in gym memberships.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Park Run Users 146 161 168 364 265 266 Central Park = 170 average weekly runners.

Dartford Heath = 95 average weekly runners.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Junior Park Run 
Users

37 35 39 50 38 42 There has been a small increase in the number of 
participants compared to the same period in 2017/18.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Princes Park Mini Pitch Users 179 191 38 34 45 117

Usage for this quarter has increased compared to the 
last quarter due to all the regular teams coming into 
the main part of their season, only stopping over the 
Christmas period.

Percentage attendance at the Orchard 
Theatre (% of total seats available 
which are used)

61% 59% 64% 54% 66% 61%

Footfall figures were lower than the same quarter last 
year mainly due to 2017 hosting The Adams Family 
Musical at Halloween, which achieved 99% capacity.  
The majority of the other shows achieved their 
targets. Yield on ticket income has improved from 
last year in quarter 3 by 15%.

Number of local groups supported 
through Community Grant and other 
grant schemes

34 38 4 5 22 31

In quarter 3 there were 3 grants awarded under the 
DBC Community Fund. 2 organisation were awarded 
grants under the Salute to Youth Scheme and the 
Community Grant Scheme awarded grants to 17 
organisations.



4

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for Quarters N/A

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 9.1 years lower for men in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 
7.8 years lower for men. This is an annual indicator 
and the next update is due in July 2019.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value is 
for 2014-16 – 

see note
N/A Not measured for Quarters N/A

Latest available figures for 2014-16 show that life 
expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women in the most 
deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 
4.7 years lower for women. This is an annual 
indicator and the next update is due in July 2019.

Percentage of obese children in Year 6 21.9% N/A Not measured for Quarters N/A

Latest available figures for 2016-17 show that 21.9% 
of children in Year 6 (10-11 year olds) were classified 
as obese in the Borough. This is higher than the 
previous year where 21.1% of children in Year 6 
were classified as obese. In Kent overall (KCC area) 
for 2016-17, the figure is 18.5%. This is an annual 
indicator and the next update is due in 2019.

Percentage of adults achieving at least 
150 minutes of physical exercise per 
week

63.9% N/A Not measured for Quarters N/A

Latest available figures for 2016/17 show that 63.9% 
of adults were physically active in the Borough. This 
is slightly up from the 2015/16 figure of 63.1%. This 
indicator is defined as the percentage of adults (aged 
19+) that meet Chief Medical Officer 
recommendations for physical activity (150+ 
moderate intensity equivalent minutes per week).



5

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated by 
CCTV this month 72 78 27 17 19 63 Outcomes remain stable – now fully staffed.

Total number of arrests supported by 
CCTV this month 59 58 21 12 27 60 Outcomes remain stable – now fully staffed.

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) 104 116 100 83 83 83

There has been some new take up from businesses 
but the overall figure remains reduced due to 
business closures and financial constraints on some 
SME's. This remains a challenge.

Number of Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) interventions against 
persistent offenders

22 14 3 3 3 9

We are continuing to use Community Protection 
Warnings (CPW) instead of DTAC exclusions which 
are non-enforceable. This is proving to be a far better 
and more strategic approach which has a legislative 
framework to support it.

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 379 50 136 108 294 This continues to be a highly effective tool in tackling 

ASB across the district.

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 46 13 32 18 63

The lower numbers of CPN's (against CPW's) 
reflects the effectiveness of Community Protection 
Warnings.

Number of Public Space Protection 
Order Enforcement Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 0 1 0 0 1

The performance reflects the vulnerability of the 
enforcement principally laying with another agency 
(Police).

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18

N/A 27 3 3 0 6

Whilst the CSU work closely with the Police in 
identifying when the use of an ABA is appropriate, it 
remains an exclusively a Police task to decide to 
proceed, issue and then monitor the agreement. The 
Council use Community Protection Warnings and 
Notices to respond to the types of behaviour that an 
ABA tackles, but these are limited to those over the 
age of 18. ABA's tend to be aimed at those under 18 
years.



6

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Percentage of High risk (categories A 
& B) food hygiene inspections due and 
completed (cumulative)

100% 100% 100% 50% 100% 100% 100% All high risk food premises have been inspected as 
scheduled.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour incidents in the Borough by 
the Police

2,982 2,135 461 526 357 1,344

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home 
office crime counting rules, (effectively making year 
on year comparisons impossible) this will no longer 
be reported on via Pentana. The difference between 
crimes reported to the Police and statistics gathered 
by the British Crime survey are markedly different.  
A full explanation has been submitted to both the 
DBC Community Safety Partnership and Crime and 
Disorder Scrutiny Committee.

Total number of crimes reported in the 
Borough 10,098 12,060 3,537 3,616 3,110 10,263

The counting rules for crime pattern analysis have 
been changed by the Home Office; therefore 
comparisons cannot be made until further notice 
from the Police.

Number of criminal damage offences 
reported in the Borough 1,652 1,445 380 424 322 1,126

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home 
office crime counting rules, (effectively making year 
on year comparisons impossible) this will no longer 
be reported on via Pentana. The difference between 
crimes reported to the Police and statistics gathered 
by the British Crime survey are markedly different.  
A full explanation has been submitted to both the 
DBC Community Safety Partnership and Crime and 
Disorder Scrutiny Committee.



7

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

The average results of Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels from all automatic air 
quality monitoring stations in the 
Borough (micrograms per m2)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 43.1 33.1 38.6 44.2 38.7 Air temperature and climatic conditions create 

increase in levels from the summer.

Number of households taking part in 
energy efficiency initiatives in the 
Borough

571 241 60 108 124 292 Positive performance and similar to those achieved 
in 2017/18.

Number of households taking part in 
green bin (garden waste) service 6,141 5,740 5,881 6,043 6,066 5,997 6,000 The number of customers remains at around 6,000.

Number of fly-tipping incidents 159 2,560 835 653 470 1,958 The number of fly-tipping incidents has reduced 
greatly.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 58 14 11 21 46 The number of reported incidents of graffiti remains 
very low.

Percentage of household waste going 
to landfill 1.7% 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 0.4% 0.4% Very little of our waste is sent landfill.

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the housing 
register 1,064 1,134 1,137 1,106 854 854

There has been a drop in the number on the waiting 
list this quarter due to verification checks undertaken 
on inactive applications.

No of households living in temporary 
accommodation 107 108 93 82 64 64

The number of families in temporary accommodation 
is down significantly when compared to same quarter 
last year where there were 99 families in temporary 
accommodation. This is due to the success of the 
new processes introduced to meet the challenges of 



8

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

the Homelessness Reduction Act, the creation of the 
Homeless Hub and the successful prevention 
approach adopted.

Number of households where 
homelessness has been prevented 50 78 61 53 84 198

Homeless preventions outcomes are up significantly 
following the introduction of the new working 
approach delivered and in reaction to the introduction 
of the Homelessness Reduction Act.

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar days) 
(EXCL major works).

20.41 21.02 24.35 24.4 19.36 22.91 20

Despite an improved performance this quarter the 
annual target has not been achieved  due to a high 
number of voids that required works that took longer 
than the standard 20 day target and several hard to 
let properties in the housing schemes. The situation 
has now recovered operationally and it is hoped that 
the target will be achieved by the end of 2018/19.

Number of service requests completed 
for Private Sector Housing 429 234 72 51 64 187 187 Performance is on target.

Percentage of repairs completed in 
time 90.92% 87.62% 91.79% 96.46% 90.49% 92.84% 98.00%

Performance is just below the very challenging target 
set but remains positive in relation to the volume of 
works dealt with.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable homes delivered 
(gross) 239 173 52 46 75 173 105

Affordable housing completions have already 
exceeded the yearly target with more completions 
likely in the final quarter of 2018/19.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162 1,031 Not measured for Quarters N/A Housing delivery continues to be strong.

Number of service requests raised for 
Private Sector Housing

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 272 70 81 76 227 The number of service requests received is similar to 

those during 2017/18.

No of private sector vacant dwellings 
that are returned into occupation or 
demolished

101 100 20 19 40 79 75
The target has been achieved with more properties 
likely to be returned to use in the last quarter of 
2018/19.



9

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 2017/18 Q1 
2018/19

Q2 
2018/19

Q3 
2018/19 2018/19

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business Rates 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 98.9% 32.0% 57.4% 83.5% 83.5% 83.9%

Business Rates collection is down 0.4% as 
compared with 2017/18, although collection in 
monetary terms in up by £2.7m.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 97% 29.2% 56.5% 84% 84% 84%

Council Tax collection % is the same as in 
2017/2018 although the monetary value of 
collections has risen by 4m.

Average time taken to process a new 
claim for Housing Benefit (cumulative)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 22 28 26 25 25 23 Monthly average still within target, but cumulative still 

above due to higher figures earlier in the year.

Percentage of supplier payments made 
within 30 days of receipt of invoice 99.02% 99.35% 99.01% 99% 99.68% 99.27% 99% Good performance continued.

Rent Collection and Arrears Recovery - 
rents collected as a proportion of rents 
owed.

97.67% 97.8% 91.9% 95.36% 97.13% 97.13% 97% The percentage of rent collected is on target for the 
year.

Number of phone calls received by the 
Council 577,329 518,358 134,073 129,695 115,933 379,701

There has been a slightly higher decline in telephone 
calls compared to the same quarter for the same 
period last year (2017/18).  A total drop of 2,612 over 
this 12 week period. This is likely to be attributed in 
part, to the increase in issues that can be resolved 
directly through the DBC website including amongst 
other things, the newly set up Online Special 
Collection and Pest Control services.

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to short term (<4 weeks) 
illness per employee

4.39 3.18 1.08 1.04 1.46 3.58 3 Higher level of short-term sickness in quarter 3 due 
to seasonal bugs.

Average number of DBC working days 
lost due to long term (>4 weeks) illness 
per employee

2.38 3.15 2.1 1.69 1.14 4.93 3.02

Increase in long term sickness absence against last 
year. Employee Health and Wellbeing Strategy has 
been drafted with key actions to try and reduce 
absence levels where possible.  A number of 
wellbeing initiatives continue to take place.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 829,677 226,842 249,098 213,795 689,735 Website accessibility – Further work has been 



10

Performance Indicator
2016/17 2017/18 Q1 

2018/19
Q2 

2018/19
Q3 

2018/19 2018/19
Target Note

Value Status Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

undertaken to raise the website’s compliance with 
the accessibility coding standards. This work has 
resulted in the Council now being rated as 33rd out 
of the 397 Councils tested, and already meeting the 
new statutory requirements for accessibility that will 
be required of all Council websites in 2020.

 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
19 MARCH 2019

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ROLLING WORK PLAN

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s current Rolling Work Plan.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the updated rolling Work Plan be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. An updated Rolling Work Plan for the Policy Overview Committee is 
attached at Appendix A to this report. The updated Plan reflects the 
Committee’s discussions on 11 December 2018, subsequent input from 
Senior Officers following consultations with Outside Bodies, together 
with details of long-standing items previously agreed by the Committee 
[with a timeframe] plus items agreed, but still to be allocated a 
timeframe.

4. Detail

4.1. Presentation by Virgin Care Ltd.: This is confirmed for the meeting 
on 19 March 2019;

4.2. Updates from DGS CCG and D&G NHS Trust: Also confirmed for the 
meeting on 19 March.

4.3. Welfare Reform Update: Subsequent to the Committee’s meeting on 
11 September 2018 [Min. No. 21.5 refers]; the Strategic Director 
(Internal Services) and the Benefit Manager proposed a further 
deferment of this update until June 2019; to enable a better 
assessment to be made of the effects of the roll-out of full Universal 
Credit across the Borough. 

4.4. Relate Medway & North Kent (M&NK): As advised to the Committee 
on 11 December [Min. No. 36 Item 3 refers] a further invitation was 
sent to the Chair of Relate (M&NK) Mr Dan McDonald, who has now 
agreed to update Members on 18 June 2019. The attached Work Plan 
has been annotated to this effect.

4.5. Consideration of the following additional areas, which were put forward 
at the Committee meeting held on 13 June 2017, have yet to be 
scheduled:

 Channel shift policy
 Communication and engagement strategy
 Business Advice website



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
19 MARCH 2019

4.6. Members are invited to suggest additional items for inclusion in the 
Work Plan for the ensuing 2019-20 municipal cycle and beyond.

5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council.

6. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

8. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Rolling Work Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Previous 
2018-19 
Agendas, 
Minutes and 

David Hook
(01322) 343276

Democratic Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A

Work Plan



APPENDIX A

POLICY OVERVIEW ROLLING WORK PLAN 2019-20

March 2019 June 2019 September 2019 March 2020

Update from Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group.

Relate Medway & North Kent Air Quality Annual Status 
Report 2019

Update from Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust. Welfare Reform Update

Presentation from Virgin Care 
Ltd. [PowerPoint]. POC Annual Report 2018/19

Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring

Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice Regulation 9 Notice




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 11 December 2018
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	7 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 11 December 2018
	9 Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, Quarter 3 of 2018/19 Municipal Year
	Item 11 APPENDIX A - Corporate Plan Key Actions (Q3 2018-19)
	Item 11 APPENDIX B - Corporate Plan Performance Indicators (Q3 - 2018-19)

	10 Policy Overview Committee Rolling Work Plan
	Item 12 APPENDIX A DRAFT


